

Final Report

Expert Group for the Observatory on the Online Platform Economy

Uncovering blindspots in the policy debate on platform power



Contents

1	Introduction	4
2	Sources of power	5
	2.1 Gatekeepers and intermediation power	5
	2.2 Platform power evolves over the platform lifecycle	6
	2.3 Network effects and switching costs	7
	2.4 Economies of scale and scope	8
	2.5 Data as a source of power	10
	2.6 The role of consumer behaviour	11
	2.7 Infrastructural power	11
	2.8 From markets to ecosystems?	12
3	Types of power	15
	3.1 Power over businesses	15
	3.2 Power over consumers	17
	3.3 Power over society and democracy	20
	3.3.1 Platforms as regulatory structures of the social	20
	3.3.2 Platforms as intermediaries: public sphere	21
	3.3.3 Democracy: platforms as active agents	22
	3.3.4 Regulation: treating platforms as facilitators of speech	23
4	Conclusion	24
ς,	nurces	25

Uncovering blindspots in the policy debate on platform power

Authors: Christoph Busch, Inge Graef Co-authors: Jeanette Hofmann, Annabelle Gawer

Executive summary

This report maps different sources and types of power in the platform economy by bringing together existing insights from various disciplines such as law, economics, political science and business strategy. The various strands of research are connected with current policy discussions on how to design and implement platform regulation. The objective is to uncover elements of platform power that deserve more attention, both in relation to the application of current legal regimes and with regard to the development of future regulatory frameworks.

The control exercised by platforms can no longer be adequately captured by merely looking at economic characteristics (such as network effects, and economies of scale and scope) and the existing notion of 'market power'. The power held by platforms goes beyond control over markets and also directly impacts businesses, consumers and our society at large. While current policy debates focus mainly on concerns relating to the control held by platforms over their business users, attention also needs be paid to the extent of control exercised over consumers and citizens.

The ability of platforms to influence consumer behaviour is a source of power that deserves better understanding. In addition, more awareness needs to be created about the societal and infrastructural aspects of platform power. The COVID-19 crisis has shed new light on our dependence on platforms and digital technologies in spheres of key public consideration, such as healthcare and education. Digital platforms are also increasingly acting as gatekeepers of public interests, including through their ability to influence democracy through their control over how human rights and freedoms can be exercised via their services. As the impact of the platform economy on vital public interests like innovation, healthcare and democracy keeps expanding, these are decisive moments for establishing the priorities of EU policy and regulation.

1 Introduction

The platform economy has given rise to new sources and types of power that challenge basic concepts upon which existing regulatory frameworks are built. Various policy reports have tried to conceptualize these new forms of power and proposed different terms: digital gatekeepers, unavoidable trading partners, structuring platforms, market players holding strategic market status, market players of paramount significance for competition across markets, etc.

This report takes stock of these discussions and maps to what extent they reflect insights from various academic disciplines on the concerns that the new sources of power in the platform economy raise. In this perspective, Section 2 provides an overview of various sources of platform power including, inter alia, network effects, economies of scale and scope, the role of data as source of power and factors related to consumer behaviour. Section 3 analyses different types of power, in particular power over businesses, consumers and the societal dimension of platform power. The objective is to uncover elements of platform power that deserve more attention, both in relation to the application of current legal regimes and with regard to the development of future regulatory frameworks.

This report starts from the premise that platform power is more than just 'market power' in a traditional sense. While market power is a key element of the power wielded by digital platforms, analyzing the role of platforms merely through the lens of competition law and competition economics is too narrow an approach (Lynskey 2017: 27; Busch 2021). The power held by platforms also challenges societies and individuals at large. This includes regulations designed to protect them such as data protection, consumer and media law. Discussions about regulating platform power should therefore not only consider the control held by platforms over their business users but also over consumers. In this regard, the ability of platforms to influence consumer behaviour is a source of power that deserves better understanding. Furthermore, more awareness needs to be created about the societal and infrastructural aspects of platform power (Plantin et al. 2018; Van Dijck et al.: 12-16). In this perspective, it should be considered that large digital platforms are extending their influence into sectors that raise considerations of public policy and societal infrastructure, e.g. public transport, healthcare and education (Busch 2021). The COVID-19 crisis has made the societal and infrastructural role taken up by platforms even more apparent.

2 Sources of power

There is not a single characteristic of digital markets that can be identified as the key source of platform power. Rather, it is a combination of interrelated factors that is responsible for the economic and societal power of certain digital platforms. The following section gives an overview of sources of platform power that have been identified in recent policy reports and research papers.

2.1 Gatekeepers and intermediation power

A key element of platform power is closely related to the role of two-sided platforms as intermediaires who facilitate transactions between different platform users. As a result of their central position platforms may be able to control access to a specific user group that primarily single-homes. As Furman et al. (2019: 41) put it,

"one, or in some cases two firms in certain digital markets have a high degree of control and influence over the relationship between buyers and sellers, or over access by advertisers to potential buyers. As these markets are frequently important routes to market, or gateways for other firms, such bottlenecks are then able to act as a gatekeeper between businesses and their prospective customers."

For example, through its App Store Apple controls the access of app developers to iPhone users (Bostoen & Mandrescu 2020; Geradin & Katsifis 2020; but see Voelcker & Baker 2020). Similarly, one may argue that Amazon controls the access to consumers who are members of its Prime customer loyalty programme and who make the majority of their purchases via the Amazon website (Busch 2020b: 5). In such a scenario, the platform may become an unavoidable trading partner or gatekeeper and enjoy what has sometimes been referred to as 'intermediation power' (Crémer et al. 2019: 49) or 'bottleneck power' (Scott Morton et al. 2019: 105). Others draw a parallel with the essential facility doctrine and refer to 'essential platforms' (Guggenberger 2020).

Such a gatekeeper position enables platforms to assume the role of 'private regulators' (Schweitzer 2019) who determine the rules for participating in the exchange of goods and services via the platform. Platform operators are in a unique position to remote control contracts concluded via the platform, define community guidelines and set up reputation system which serve as a crowdsourced governance architecture. In doing so, platforms can rely on algorithm-controlled matching systems that steer the interplay between supply and demand but also between interacting citizens on the platform.

Moreover, public authorities are increasingly involving platforms in their regulatory activity, drawing on their superior operational capacities, access to data and effective means of influencing the behaviour of platform users. For example, local regulators may have to rely on the co-operation of platforms for enforcing short-term rental regulations. In this perspective,

the concept of 'intermediation power' not only relates to the role of digital platform as market intermediaries, but also to their role as 'regulatory intermediaries' (Busch 2020a).

It is important to note however that not all platform firms achieve a position of centrality in the economy. In fact, most platform firms fail, only a very small number does succeed (Yoffie, Gawer & Cusumano, 2019). It is therefore important to distinguish those platforms that reach the status of gatekeeper, versus those that never do. Further, while digital markets may naturally tip to a winner-take-all position following market forces of supply, demand subject to economies of scale and scope both in supply and in demand (the latter are also called network effects), in some cases digital platforms also behave strategically to trigger 'unnatural tipping'. Unnatural tipping occurs when platforms in tight oligopolies abusively hindering competitors, such as via deliberate obstruction of multi-homing or switching from one platform to another.¹

2.2 Platform power evolves over the platform lifecycle

Platform firms evolve over time, as the markets in which they operate are subject to network effects. Consequently their strategy evolves over time. This has implications on any understanding of platform power. Gawer (2020) identifies two phases of the digital platform lifecycle: launch and maturity. She explains: "In the launch phase, before the market tips, nascent platforms are especially vulnerable to competition. If a platform does not win the race for network effects before the market tipping point, it will most likely fail. Winner-takes-all dynamics create a situation where digital platforms aim for dominance as a survival strategy. Hence, the digital platform's strategic imperative in its formative years is to achieve scale through network effects."

"Many digital platforms, hoping to achieve dominance, choose to forego fledgling profits in order to bring one or more sides on board. The potential for incumbency rents compensates for early losses (Crémer et al., 2019). During the maturity phase, however, once markets have tipped, platforms are then likely to prioritize profit-seeking while building or maintaining barriers to entry against rivals or newcomers."

"This sequence of strategic decisions can be observed, for example, in the case of Amazon. As Khan (2017: 749) explains, the premise of Amazon's business model was to establish scale. As Amazon founder and CEO Jeff Bezos wrote in his first letter to shareholders in 1998, "market

https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/Gesetz/gesetzentwurf-gwbdigitalisierungsgesetz.pdf.

¹ As per the Legislative proposal of the German Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy, digital platforms activities leading to 'unnatural tipping' refer to "an unfair impediment [...] where an undertaking with superior market power on a market [...] impedes competitors' independent attainment of network effects and thereby creates a serious risk of a considerable restriction of competition on the merits." The rule lowers the threshold to "superior market power" and shall provide a legal basis for tackling an undefined number of practices that could lead to an unnatural tipping of markets. See the English translation by D'Kart of the German version of the government draft bill of 9 September 2020: https://www.d-kart.de/blog/2020/02/21/draft-billthe-translation/. For the original bill in German:

leadership" signaled that "Amazon intended to dominate." To achieve scale, the company prioritized growth, leading it to "make decisions and weigh trade-offs differently than some companies"; "we choose to prioritize growth because we believe that scale is central to achieving the potential of our business model" (Bezos, 1997). Lina Khan indicates that although Amazon experienced staggering user and revenue growth, its profits were meagre because it chose to price below cost in order to expand its reach.

In its formative years, Facebook also adopted a policy of prioritizing the growth of its user-base rather than its profits, as Mark Zuckerberg remarked in 2008 (FAZ, 2008): "What every great internet company has done is to figure out a way to make money that has to match to what they are doing on the site. [...] In three years from now, we have to figure out what the optimum model is. But that is not our primary focus today. Growth is primary, revenue is secondary." Facebook returned its first profit in 2009.

We can therefore expect that digital platform firms' strategic behaviours with regard to accumulation and maintenance of power will differ depending on their stage of evolution; during the launch phase, they will prioritize the growth of the sides rather than profits by fostering their network effects, aiming to survive and focusing on generating value for users thanks to their intermediation capacity. In contrast, during the maturity phase, the digital platform firms that will have survived are likely to prioritize sustaining their power and prioritize profit. Once the platform market has tipped, platform firms that will have reached asymmetric power over customers or business partners and have reached uncontested positions of gatekeeper power may simply lack the will to self-regulate (Gawer and Srnicek, 2020).

Platforms that reach a gatekeeper position, that is, the ones that survive once the market has tipped, act as a central and unavoidable intermediary between multiple sides. As such they can have the incentive and the ability to abuse this position. Platform firms often claim they have the incentives to maintain trust on their platform, but evidence shows that they can make decisions that can have negative effects on platform users. The effects of these unilateral decisions are made worse in the case of bargaining power imbalance and the lack of viable substitutes to some platforms (Marsden and Podszun, 2020).

2.3 Network effects and switching costs

Many digital platform markets are characterized by strong network effects. Direct (withingroup) network effects occur when the benefits to a user increases with the number of users. This type of network effects is relevant for example for social networks and messenger apps.

-

² In his first letter to shareholders, Jeff Bezos wrote: "We believe that a fundamental measure of our success will be the shareholder value we create over the *long term*. This value will be a direct result of our ability to extend and solidify our current market leadership position... We first measure ourselves in terms of the metrics most indicative of our market leadership: customer and revenue growth, the degree to which our customers continue to purchase from us on a repeat basis, and the strength of our brand. We have invested and will continue to invest aggressively to expand and leverage our customer base, brand, and infrastructure as we move to establish an enduring franchise." (Bezos, 1997).

Indirect (cross-group) network effects occur when the benefits to users on one side of a multi-sided market increase with the number of uses on the other side of the market. This type of network effects is relevant for example for online marketplaces and app stores. Network effects may be further reinforced by the key role of data in digital markets (Stucke 2018). Such 'data-driven network effects' are relevant for example for online search engines, which can improve the quality of search results when more users search a keyword.

The existence of network effects not only facilitates the rapid growth of platforms, it may also create barriers to entry for new competitors. As Crémer et al. (2019: 2) explain,

"it is not enough for a new entrant to offer better quality and/or a lower price than the incumbent does; it also has to convince users of the incumbent to coordinate their migration to its own services. Network effects could thus prevent a superior platform from displacing an established incumbent. The size of this "incumbency advantage" depends on a number of factors, including the possibility of multi-homing, data portability, and data interoperability."

From the perspective of game theory, this aspect of platform power can be analyzed as a collective action problem resulting from the difficulty for users to coordinate migration to a new platform (Crémer et al. 2019: 22; Peitz 2020: 30). Even if the users would benefit collectively if they all migrated to competing platform, they would not necessarily have an individual incentive to migrate. Their decision to stay or move to a new platform may depend on their expectation that other users will migrate as well. Shapiro and Varian refer to this as the problem of 'collective switching costs', i.e. the combined switching costs of all users (Shapiro & Varian 1999: 184). A new market entrant has to overcome this barrier in order to reach a critical mass of users. Therefore, control over a large user base maye be one of the greatest assets of a digital platform (Shapiro & Varian 1999: 185).

Network effects can be overcome where platform users are free to switch between platforms or use multiple competing platforms simultaneously, a practice commonly referred to as multi-homing (Furman et al. 2019: 35). However, several factors may increase the cost or inconvenience of multi-homing or switching between platforms (Furman et al. 1999: 36). For example, consumers or businesses may not be able to transfer their 'reputation capital' (e.g. ratings, trust scores) from one platform to another due to a lack of interoperability between the different reputation systems (Busch 2020b: 13). Even if technical barriers can be overcome, inertia of platform users may lead to a low rate of switching and multi-homing. Thus, incumbent platforms benefit from 'strong preferences for default options and loyalty to brands they know' (Furman et al. 1999: 36).

2.4 Economies of scale and scope

The sources of platform power originally stem from online platforms ability to create value. Platforms principally create value in harnessing the combination of technological factors

(digital technologies, pervasive connectivity and big data analytics) combined with business strategies based on specific business models (so-called platform business models, that often subsidize one side and offer services for free to some users in order to attract them), in an attempt to provide intermediation between groups of users who could not otherwise find each other and exchange (this is what so-called 'transaction platforms' do) and/or to provide shared innovation capabilities and access to data for developers of complementary innovation (these are the so-called 'innovation platforms', as per Cusumano, Gawer, and Yoffie 2019). Economies of scale and scope are essential to understand the engine of how platforms create value, and without this understanding it is hard to understand the strategic behaviour of platforms.

Digitalization creates a different kind of scale and scope economies. Economies of scale in production exist where the high up-front investment and fixed costs of creating a digital platform is coupled with a low or near-zero marginal cost of additional platform users (Furman et al. 2019: 32). While this aspect is not novel as such and also exists in traditional markets, digital markets, which transcend geographical barriers and constraints, can push such economies of scale to their extremes (Crémer et al. 2019: 2). Moreover, large digital platforms often enjoy privileged access to low-cost capital (Lancieri & Sakowski 2020: 9) which enables them to scale up quickly and benefit from the aforementioned economies of scale.

Even more important for the power of digital platforms is the presence of economies of scope, which have been described by Furman et al. (2019: 32) as follows:

"There are also features of digital markets that mean costs can be reduced, or service quality can be increased, by operating simultaneously across multiple adjacent markets. These economies of scope can be derived through use of existing customer and supplier relationships, branding, sharing of technical expertise, and possibly most importantly, the sharing and merging of consumer data. These strong economies of scope are one reason why the same small number of large digital companies have successfully built ecosystems across several adjacent markets."

As explained by Crémer et al. (2019: 33):

"these economies of scope can arise from the possession of data which would enable, for instance, the design of a new service using an individual's data or the training of a new machine-learning algorithm. They can arise from network externalities, leveraging an existing and trusting user base thereby helping resolve the chicken and egg problem of starting a service with strong network externalities. Finally, it could come from the redeployment of technology which has proved fruitful in other areas."

In reality, and consistent with the quote above, a closer inspection of the phenomenon of consumption and supply of digital services which platforms offer, reveals that such effects cross over the demand side and the supply side. As users do not only consume but generate data, they play in a continuous feedback loop the role of consumers (of data-based services), but they also, in a way that is inseparable, play the role of providers of ingredients to the production (the supply) of these very same services swhich get continuously updated as the data generated by the users gets incorporated into the algorithms that produce the data-based service. These feedback loops following the data flows generate self-reinforcing mechanisms of value creation.

2.5 Data as a source of power

Almost all recent studies on digital platforms emphasize the key role played by data in digital markets (Lancieri & Sakowski 2020: 15-21). It is probably no exaggeration to say that the large pools of data held by incumbent platforms are "the single biggest barrier to entry in the digital economy" (Furman et al. 2019: 33). Not only can a data-rich platform continuously improve its goods and services by making them more targeted to user preferences, but also can the platform generate higher revenue by offering more targeted advertising to business users (Furman et al. 2019: 33).

The central position as gatekeepers gives platforms a privileged access to large pools of data which are generated in the course of transactions that are facilitated via the platform. These data not only provide information about the preferences and purchase behaviour of individual users. Digital platforms also accumulate 'social data', i.e. information that may shed light on other people's behaviour (e.g. traffic patterns). In economic literature, the fact that data shared by one individual can be used to derive insights about other individuals who did not share their data has been referred to as a data externality. Data externalities can depress prices of data and thereby result into excessive data collection (Bergemann, Bonatti & Gan 2019; Choi, Jeon & Kim 2019; Acemoglu et al. 2019). Moreover, in aggregated form, the data provide an important source for product and process innovations (Crémer et al. 2019: 2). In this perspective, digital platforms may benefit from the fact that the cost of acquiring individual data can be substantially below the value of the information to the platform (U.S.House of Representatives 2020: 46). It is expected that the competitive importance of data will even further grow with the development of artificial intelligence (Lancieri & Sakowski 2020: 17).

The role of data as a source of power is closely linked with other factors, in particular economies of scale and scope, as building a digital ecosystem increases the data collection capabilities of platforms. Lancieri and Stakowski (2020: 16) explain this as follows:

"As data are a key input for different products, large digital platforms also enjoy strong economies of scope—that is, they can enter new markets and develop new products at lower costs than entrants or even established players. This leads to a positive cycle

where larger scale and data access strengthens the platform, which then gains even more scale and data."

In a similar perspective Furman et al. (2019: 33) underline that "economies of scale and scope appear to be particularly strong in relation to the accumulation and use of data relating to consumer behaviour". Vertically integrated (or hybrid) platforms can also use transaction data generated on the platform to identify customer preferences and trending products. This places the platform in a privileged position to decide whether to enter certain product markets as a supplier. From this perspective, the marketplace can be used as a 'learning tool' to identify lucrative business models (Belleflamme & Peitz 2019).

2.6 The role of consumer behaviour

Behavioural biases of platform users can further reinforce the power of digital platform (Peitz 2020: 26). Thus, an assessment of platform power "must take into account insights drawn from behavioural economics about the strength of consumers' biases towards default options and short-term gratification" (Crémer et al. 2019: 4). In a similar vein, Scott Morton et al. (2019: 42) underline,

"the more technological changes enable information sharing and diminish physical barriers to competition, the more human behavior becomes a key variable to hinder effective competition between different companies."

The recent CMA Report on Online Platforms and Digital Advertisement provides an overview of how platforms can use choice architectures based on consumers' behavioural biases (UK CMA 2020: Y29). For example, consumer preference for default option may favour incumbent platforms, in particular those with strong brands. In addition, platforms operators may actively exploit psychological weaknesses of platform with the help of so-called 'dark patterns' (Luguri & Strahilevitz 2019). For example, they could design user interfaces in a way to make their digital products addictive and increase the time users spend on the platform (e.g. endless scrolls). Against this background it has been suggested to consider the time spent on a platform as metric for assessing platform power (Peitz 2020: 28).

Behavioural biases become even more relevant, where platforms hold detailed information on the behaviour of individual consumers. In this sense, the analysis of consumer data collected on a platform or even across a digital ecosystem allows companies to engage in microtargeting individual consumer preferences with personalized offers or exploit idiosyncratic weaknessess of individual consumer (Wagner & Eidenmüller 2019).

2.7 Infrastructural power

Taking up a recent call from Plantin et al. one may also analyse platform power through an infrastructural lens (Plantin et al. 2018). From this perspective, digital platforms "constitute

social and material infrastructures at the user level" and, at the same time, "replace or mesh with existing infrastructures" (Plantin & Punathambekar 2019: 164). One prominent example is Google Maps which provides a cartographic infrastructure that serves as a basis for a plethora of private and public services (McQuire 2019). For example, other digital platforms such as Airbnb and Uber are using the Google Maps API for providing information on the location of nearby rideshares or available short-term rentals. With regard to public transport, Google Maps provides real time data on buses and trains and offers predictions on the crowdedness of public transport (Google 2019). More recently, Google Maps introduced a 'COVID layer' that shows information about COVID-19 cases in an area (Google 2020). Even critical public services such as the 'Emergengy Information and Warning App' for smartphones provided by the German Federal Office of Civil Protection and Disaster Assistance relies on cartographic data from Google Maps and Apple Maps (BKK 2020).

Another area where digital platforms are playing an increasingly important role is digital health care. In particular, health data collected via smartphone apps and wearables are becoming a key element of the emerging digital health care infrastructure. While this development undoubtedly offers a large number of opportunities for improving patient care, there are also potential risks. In particular, from an infrastructural perspective, the integration of smartphone apps and wearables into the architecture of health care means that health care services of general interest could become increasingly dependent on large digital platforms who control the access to the operating systems of smartphones and wearables.

This became very clear in the early summer of 2020 in connection with the introduction of corona tracing apps, for which many national governments were dependent on the cooperation of Apple and Google because of their duopoly in the smartphone market (Ramge & Mayer-Schönberger 2020). There was an intense debate about centralised vs. decentralised tracing apps. While those in favour of a centralised approach argued that it could allow a deeper analysis of data for public health purposes, others preferred a decentralised approach for reasons of data protection. In this controversy, Apple and Google backed a decentralised solution which made several national governments switch their plans from centralised to decentralised app (European Parliament 2020; Reuters 2020). While there may good reasons for this technical choice, in particular from a data protection perspective, one could argue that such a decision should be based on a political balancing of public health and data protection concerns rather than influenced by the infrastructural power of digital platforms (Busch 2021).

2.8 From markets to ecosystems?

The difficulty to use existing frameworks to correctly assess the nature of platform power suggest that we need academic experts to develop better theories to help explain and predict the behaviour and impact of platforms and ecosystems in the digital economy. While this scholarly activity might appear abstract to some, such research effort will be important and needs to be supported to help provide the right analytical lenses to interpret a rapidly

changing economic and social reality. In particular, in addition to the development of better computer science, we need the further development of economic theory, management theory, information systems theory, and other social science theories including among others theory of ecosystems, theory of the firm, and theory of data. Better frameworks and theories will be helpful for regulators too.

We need better analytical frameworks because the current technological and economic forces are profoundly challenging the very categories that regulators and market participants have historically relied on to interpret firms' activities to act upon through regulation. For example, the foundational notion of "market", which has been the usual fundamental unit of analysis for the development and application of economic theory of industrial organization leading to economic regulation, who have equated power with "market power", might not be the best or even the appropriate unit of analysis to interpret correctly the behaviour of online platforms and their impact on the economy and society. Whereas the distinction between market sectors, or between industries, used to be stable and meaningful, we see online platform firms appearing to be able to "glide" from market to market, as if, to them, the boundaries between markets were somehow porous or permeable. As digitalization enables the generation of data-driven complementarities across markets and across products and services, a better unit of analysis might be rather that of an ecosystem which can cut across markets or sectors.

As economics has developed a theory of markets, and we see that the concepts of markets are not sufficient to encompass the locus of activities of platform firms, we need to develop a better theory of ecosystems. Some progress has been made (Jacobides, Cennamo, and Gawer, 2018). But more work is needed, because this notion is still quite fuwwy for many theorists and regulators, while the most powerful digital platform firms have mastered the dynamics of these ecosystems. For example, Jacobides, Cennamo and Gawer (2020) distinguish between "muti-actor ecosystems" (which are constellationd of actors bound by non-generic complementarities, as Jacobides et al. 2018) and "multi-product ecosystems" which denotes a family of mutually compatible, often mutually enhancing products or services that come together to create an attractive solution. Such multi-product ecosystems would include "the Google ecosystem" (including Android, Google Search, Google Docs, Google Drive, Gmail, Google Maps, etc.); or "the Apple ecosystem" (iOS, iPhone, iPad, MacBook, Apple TV, etc.). In this view, the term "ecosystem" reflects the way in which multiple and interconnected services and products are offered to the end user. The ecosystem owner derives their competitive advantage either from the way the products interact, or from how data is combined, which can allow them to lock in end users. More research is needed on the behaviour of platforms in ecosystems over time, and on how ecosystems develop, coalesce, compete, and evolve. These conceptual developments from research in strategy and their further integration into mainstream economic theory and use by regulators will be a funadamental building block for regulatory action.

Digitalization and pervasive connectivity, combined with big data analytics, also profoundly transform the very nature of the firm. Pervasive surveillance allows remote monitoring of workers and the ability to control the work of individuals without resorting to usual contractual mechanisms such as labour contracts or usual managerial techniques based on proximal oversight. It allows the identification, monitoring, and exploitation of resources that reside outside the usual scope of the firm, giving platforms the opportunity to make new kinds of strategic decisions to design their boundaries in line with their business models. Digital platform boundary design consists in the structural decisions that platform firms make to strategically demarcate their resources and assets, which they govern in different modes.³ As the nature of the firm changes, how to determine its role and responsibilities becomes a salient question that requires more in-depth research.

-

³ Gawer, A. (2020). "Digital platforms' boundaries: The interplay of firm scope, platform sides, and digital interfaces." Digital platform firms make choices on three interrelated but distinct types of boundaries, including not only on the traditional question of (1) the scope of the firm (what assets are owned, what labour is employed, and what activities are performed by the firm), but also: (2) on the configuration and composition of the platform's sides (which distinct groups of customers have access to the platform), and (3) on its the digital interfaces (that specify the 2-way exchange of data between the platform firm and each of its sides).

3 Types of power

The notion of power has been conceptualized from different perspectives within law, economics, business strategy and political science. A key challenge for current policymaking is that the power held by certain players in the platform economy transcends our current understanding of market power. The power exercised by some digital platforms is not limited to control over markets or control over the price and quality of products and services offered to consumers. Digital platforms are now also acting as gatekeepers of public interests through their ability to impose their own rules on how businesses can innovate and reach consumers via their services, their ability to steer consumer behaviour and consumer choice, and their ability to influence democracy through the algorithmic curating of public discourse and through their control over how human rights and freedoms can be exercised.

3.1 Power over businesses

Power is a core concept in competition law, where it relates to control over the functioning of markets. In economic terms, market power is interpreted as power over price. The legal term dominant position is defined as the ability of an undertaking 'to behave to an appreciable extent independently of its competitors, its customers and ultimately of the consumers' (Hoffmann-La Roche 1979: par. 38). In its Guidance Paper on enforcement priorities of Article 102 TFEU, the Commission notes that 'an undertaking which is capable of profitably increasing prices above the competitive level for a significant period of time' can indeed generally be regarded as dominant. The Commission regards the ways in which other parameters of competition, such as output, innovation, variety or quality of products and services, can be influenced as equivalent to the power of an undertaking to maintain prices above the competitive level (European Commission 2009: par. 11). The assessment of dominance or market power indeed has to be adapted for the platform economy, because services are typically offered free of monetary charge to consumers. Other parameters of competition like quality or innovation therefore take precedence. In addition, the multi-sided nature of platforms needs to be considered to account for the effects across the different customer groups that are brought together.

The extent to which EU competition law should protect competitors as part of its objective to protect the competitive process is a recurrent theme of discussion. While dominant undertakings have a special responsibility not 'to impair genuine undistorted competition on the common market' (Michelin 1983: par. 57), it is also recognized that not every exclusionary effect is detrimental to competition and that competition on the merits by definition can lead to the departure of competitors from the market (Post Danmark I 2012: par. 22). The asefficient-competitor test is used as a tool to determine how far the protection of competitors should stretch under the special responsibility of dominant firms. In particular, competition law does not protect against 'the marginalisation of competitors that are less efficient and so less attractive to consumers from the point of view of, among other things, price, choice, quality or innovation' (Post Danmark I 2012: par. 22). In other words, competition law does

not aim at supporting weaker rivals that are unlikely to improve the competitiveness of the market or increase consumer welfare. However, in certain circumstances the special responsibility of dominant firms can also apply towards less efficient competitors, as acknowledged by the European Commission and EU Courts. In the context of rebates, the Court of Justice recognized that 'applying the as-efficient-competitor test is of no relevance inasmuch as the structure of the market makes the emergence of an as-efficient competitor practically impossible' (Post Danmark II 2015: par. 59). Similarly, the Commission stated in its Guidance Paper on enforcement priorities of Article 102 TFEU that a less efficient competitor may sometimes also exert a constraint that should be taken into account to determine whether there is anticompetitive foreclosure (European Commission 2009: par. 24).

The scope of the special responsibility of dominant firms in relation to the protection of competitors is gaining relevance again, as recent competition cases at the EU level focus on the impact of the behaviour of dominant platforms on the ability of downstream businesses to compete. Examples are the self-preferencing in online search at stake in the *Google Shopping* decision (European Commission 2017), the issue of preferential access to data in the ongoing *Amazon* investigation (European Commission 2020a) and the impact of restrictions applicable to businesses in the App Store and Apple Pay in the *Apple* investigations (European Commission 2020b and c). These cases point at the emergence of notions of equality of opportunity and the creation of a level playing field in competition enforcement. The attention for such notions brings EU competition law closer to national regimes on abuse of economic dependence or relative market power that some Member States have in place. These regimes aim at protecting businesses in a weaker bargaining position and complement competition law, which focuses on protecting the welfare of consumers.

In the context of the platform economy, the recitals to the Platform-to-Business (P2B) Regulation explain how small businesses are increasingly relying on online platforms to reach consumers. This growing dependence provides online platforms with 'superior bargaining power', enabling them to act unfair and harm the legitimate interests of their business users as well as of consumers. In particular, the recitals state that online platforms may 'unilaterally impose on business users practices which grossly deviate from good commercial conduct, or are contrary to good faith and fair dealing' (P2B Regulation 2019: recital 2). The same phrasing was used in the provisions of the Draft Common Frame of Reference and the Proposal for a Common European Sales Law to assess the unfairness of terms in contracts between businesses (Art. 11.9:405 of the DCFR and Art. 86(1) of the Proposal for a Regulation on a Common European Sales Law). These two instruments were attempts to create a general fairness standard for B2B relations in EU law, but neither of them were successfully adopted as legislation. While there is no general, horizontal B2B protection at the EU level, sectorspecific B2B contractual protections exist such as the 2011 Late Payments Directive, the 2006 Misleading and Comparative Advertising Directive and more recently the 2019 Directive on B2B Unfair Trading Practices in the Agricultural and Food Supply Chain.

The P2B Regulation can be regarded as a sector-specific B2B protection mechanism for the platform economy, even though most of its provisions focus on creating transparency. Transparency is required in particular as regards the main parameters determining ranking as well as the reasons for their relative importance (Art. 5), whether platforms engage in any differentiated treatment (Art. 7), and the extent of access to data (Art. 9). However, the P2B Regulation does not ban any practices or prescribe any conduct of platforms in relation to these issues. The P2B Regulation does provide stronger protection to business users in other areas, for instance by imposing a notice period of at least 15 days before the platform can implement changes to its terms and conditions (Art. 3(2)), and by obliging platforms to set up an internal complaint-handling system (Art. 11, with an exception for small enterprises) and to offer the possibility of mediation (Art. 12, with an exception for small enterprises).

The ex ante regulation for gatekeeping platforms in the Digital Markets Act is expected to offer stronger protection to business users by banning certain practices in a black list. Considering the strong position of some online platforms and level of control they hold over businesses, protection beyond EU competition law is indeed welcome to rebalance the different interests. To ensure the consistency of the EU regulatory framework as a whole, clarity on the policy objectives of the ex ante regulation and on the relationship with competition law is key. In particular, the ex ante regulation should complement but not substitute competition enforcement. This can be achieved by designing the ex ante regulation around an objective complementary to competition law's focus on the promotion of consumer welfare, such as offering protection against the dependence of businesses vis-à-vis platforms or stimulating the fairness of platform-to-business relations.

The emphasis on the protection of businesses is also reflected in the notions coined in reports to characterize the power of digital platforms over business users, including terms like intermediation power, unavoidable trading partners, gatekeepers and structuring platforms. While most of these terms focus on the bottleneck power that digital platforms hold vis-à-vis businesses, their level of control over consumers at the other side of their services should not be overlooked. A proper regulatory framework should therefore provide adequate attention to the power exercised by digital platforms towards both customer groups. In other words, consumers should not become a blindspot for policymakers or regulators now new legislation is developed at the EU level to protect business users of platforms.

3.2 Power over consumers

While a better balance between the interests of digital platforms and their business users will indirectly benefit consumers through more choice and better offerings, the interests of consumers also require independent protection. Through the data they hold, digital platforms can exercise control over consumers by profiling individuals and steering their preferences. Although the EU frameworks of consumer and data protection law impose a number of restrictions on such practices, the enforcement of the two regulatory frameworks should be strengthened to offer adequate protection against conduct of powerful digital platforms.

While the substance of the frameworks may be sufficiently flexible to capture this conduct, effective enforcement is yet another challenge.

Shifting the focus from the imposition of negative duties to refrain from certain problematic behaviour to positive duties to show compliance with the rules may help address this challenge. This would allow regulatory authorities to engage in more proactive monitoring against lower enforcement efforts. The principle of accountability in the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) is a good example of such a positive duty, requiring data controllers to be responsible for and to be able to demonstrate compliance with the data protection rules (see for instance Art. 5(2) and 24(1) GDPR). Another example is the statement of the Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets in its February 2020 Guidelines on the protection of the online consumers that it is for traders to ensure that the design of an online choice architecture is fair and that any default settings must be favourable to consumers (Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets 2020: 3). As hinted by the Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets, such a positive responsibility of the trader may be based on the notion of 'professional diligence' (Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets 2020: 14), which is one of the elements included in the general unfairness clause of Article 5(2) of the Unfair Commercial Practices Directive (Graef & Van Berlo 2020: 23).

Another issue is whether the extent of power held by digital platforms should be integrated into the substantive scope of protection of consumer and data protection law. Drawing inspiration from competition law's special responsibility for dominant firms, the consumer and data protection rules could be interpreted in a way that would result into stricter requirements for more powerful firms. In the context of data protection law, Lynskey refers to the concept of 'data power' to conceptualize the power exercised by firms arising from the control over the data they hold (Lynskey 2019). Open norms such as the 'fairness' of data processing under data protection law as well as the 'fairness' of contract terms and commercial practices and the concept of 'undue influence' under consumer law leave room for imposing an additional responsibility on powerful firms for protecting data subjects and consumers. Criticism on such an approach may be that this leads to a situation where customers of powerful firms benefit from a higher level of protection than customers of less powerful firms, going against the general applicability of the consumer and data protection rules. However, because powerful firms are not constrained by the competitive process, they have a stronger ability to cause harm to consumers who cannot switch to alternative providers. By not considering this market reality in the substantive interpretation of consumer and data protection rules, customers of powerful firms would in fact thus suffer from being less protected. Important to note here is that the integration of market power into the substantive scope of protection of consumer and data protection law would serve as a tool to impose stricter requirements on powerful firms and not to provide small businesses with an opportunity to ignore the rules (Graef & Van Berlo 2020: 7-16).

The GDPR's risk-based approach provides particular room for such an approach by taking into account the level of risk of a data processing activity for determining the scale of the obligations applicable to data controllers (Crémer, De Montjoye & Schweitzer 2019: 77; Lynskey 2019: 189-190 and 197). In addition, certain provisions of the GDPR inherently limit the data processing activities of powerful players to a greater extent. However, the enforcement of these provisions should be strengthened. An example is the call that private web browser Brave made on data protection authorities to enforce the GDPR's purpose limitation principle in order to prevent 'privacy policy tying' whereby firms ask users for their consent to combine all data from many services (Condorelli & Padilla 2020). The purpose limitation principle requires personal data to be collected for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes and not to be further processed in a manner that is incompatible with those purposes (Art. 5(1)(b) GDPR). A bundling of consent where companies offering multiple services ask data subjects for their consent only once for all services at the same time does not comply with this principle. For this reason, Brave argued that the data advantage from big tech firms stems from a lack of data protection enforcement (Brave 2020: par. 9-21). Effective enforcement of the GDPR's purpose limitation principle would thus not only give data subjects more control over how their personal data is used but will also help address concerns arising from the expansion of market power through the leveraging of personal data across services (Graef & Van Berlo 2020: 18-20).

Competition law is also relevant to address harm from consumer exploitation. However, competition law has not been proactively applied yet to remedy exploitative behaviour by dominant firms in digital markets. An exception is the *Facebook* decision adopted by the German Bundeskartellamt in February 2019. The Bundeskartellamt found that Facebook had abused its dominant position in the market for social networks by making the use of its social network dependent on users agreeing to the combination of data aggregated through Facebook's different services and from third-party sources into a user's Facebook's account. In the view of the Bundeskartellamt, Facebook's terms and conditions violated data protection rules and also constituted an exploitative abuse under German competition law (Bundeskartellamt 2019). Although the case is seen as controversial, it does point at the need for proactive enforcement to protect the ability of consumers to make free and autonomous choices. What the most suitable regulatory framework is for addressing consumer exploitation will depend on the circumstances of the case. As commercial practices increasingly bring the interests protected by consumer, data protection and competition law together, the application of none of these legal regimes should be excluded from the outset.

Currently, structural issues relating to the protection of consumer choice vis-à-vis digital platforms are not effectively addressed yet. This points at the need to rethink the notion of power as exercised by digital platforms towards consumers too. Protecting business users through new ex ante regulation for gatekeeping platforms is not sufficient to achieve a flourishing and diverse platform economy, where not only businesses are treated fairly but freedom of choice of consumers is also promoted. It is worth referring here to the

recommendations of the UK Competition & Markets Authority (CMA) in its July 2020 final report on online platforms and digital advertising that target both the supply and demand side of the markets in which digital platforms compete. On the supply side, the UK CMA proposes to adopt remedies to force platforms with significant market status to provide third-party access to data and to increase interoperability (UK CMA 2020: 352-353). On the demand side, the UK CMA recommends to impose a duty of 'fairness by design' on platforms with strategic market status and to require such platforms to give consumers the choice not to share their data for personalized advertising. The duty of fairness by design would require platforms to design their choice architecture in a way that encourages free and informed consumer choices. The choice requirement obliges platforms to provide consumers the option of a basic service without personalized advertising (UK CMA 2020: 26-27). Even though there are still questions about how to design these remedies, these procompetitive interventions at the supply and demand side acknownledge the combined power digital platforms hold over business users as well as consumers.

3.3 Power over society and democracy

3.3.1 Platforms as regulatory structures of the social

Digital platforms are affecting and transforming basic social structures and institutions to an increasing degree. While platforms may initially have looked like "technical translations of human sociality", digital sociality turned out to be "rather an engineered construct than a result of human social interaction" (van Dijck 2012: 161-162). For Dolata (2018) platforms differ from other businesses in how deeply they reach into society. One key resource of their ordering power consists in data accumulation. The business model of most platforms is based on control over and valorisation of data (Rahman & Thelen 2019). Data collection and analytics provide the basis for new types of (real time) information about individual and collective behaviour. "Platforms realise and act upon data (...) in ways that feed-back, structure, delimit and even determine the circulations of popular culture" (Langley & Leyshon 2017: 19; van Dijck et al. 2018).

The larger a platform, the more data points they are able to collect not only about their users and their interactions but also their networks beyond the platform in question. As a result, platforms amass behavioural information and exercise "an extraordinary control over users' personal data" (Fourcade & Gordon 2020: 94; Zuboff 2019), which exceeds that of most other organisations, including the state: A platform "knows more about voters' personal preferences, political engagement and psychographic trigger points than many governments in this world" (Helberger 2020: 1). Platforms use this information not only for selling targeted advertising, but also as an "instrument for manipulation" (Van Dijck, Nieborg, Poell 2019: 3) for strategically influencing user behaviour.

To the extent that platforms manage to penetrate and "reengineer" social interaction, they are becoming infrastructures, which are assuming a critical role in public and private lives (Langlois & Elmer 2019). Like other, analogue infrastructures, digital platforms are powerful integration machines: By "indexing and pointing to everything" (Bowers & Zittrain 2020), digital platforms enable expanding networks linking people, organisations and objects in algorithmically 'curated' ways. They provide specific, often welfare-enhancing, means of interaction across time and space, and, simultaneously, set standards for accessing and making use of them (Ananny 2020; Hofmann 2020). "Communication power" (Castells 2009) or "network power" (Kleis Nielsen & Ganter 2018) indicates that platforms define the sociotechnical and legal terms under which users can interact with each other. As "infrastructural intermediaries" (Langley & Leyshon 2017: 19), they set the norms for the "circulations in which they specialise, whether these be ideas, knowledge, labour, or use rights for otherwise idle assets".

Given their ordering power, platforms can be described as "systems of governance" (Klonick 2018: 1599) or "regulatory structures", which define "the rules and parameters of action" in an increasingly digitally mediated everyday life (Zysman & Kenney quoted in Rahman & Thelen 2019: 179). Likes, tweets and retweets, followers, following and sharing are examples for reformatted social actions that can be algorithmically measured and ranked as part of "judgement and evaluation systems" that create new forms of social stratification (Langley & Leyshon 2017: 20; Plantin et al. 2018). The "definitional work" on categories of action usually remains hidden so that platforms offer "seemingly natural set of terms and definitions that will become dominant categories of political speech and, thus, the categories used for collective self-governance (Ananny 2020: 361). Hence, crucial points about the infrastructural status of platforms are that it is very difficult, if not impossible, to avoid their use and that using them implies adapting to specific ordering logics inscribed in the services they offer (Fourcade & Gordon 2020; Klonick 2018; Bucher 2012).

3.3.2 Platforms as intermediaries: public sphere

As intermediaries between politics and the people, platforms are restructuring the public sphere. Corporations such as Facebook, Youtube, Twitter and Instagram have become the new gatekeepers or "custodians to the massive, heterogeneous, and contested public realm they have brought into being" (Gillespie 2018: 211). Some observers go so far as to maintain that the public sphere is nowadays "operated by a small number of private companies, based in Silicon Valley" (Bell 2014, quoted after Kleis Nielsen & Ganter 2018). They structure public discourse through rules incorporated in their terms of service and 'community standards' but also through architectural affordances (Plantin et al. 2018). Together, these contractual, technical and social norms act as both enabling and restricting means of public speech. User generated content and professional journalism alike benefit from extending their reading reach but at the price of having to adapt to the specific conditions set by platforms (Kleis Nielsen & Ganter 2018). These conditions concern, among other things, popularity-based ranking systems and the personalisation of content but also rules on what can and cannot be

said or shown on platforms. While platforms occasionally comment on their ranking systems, these explanations are too vague for public scrutiny (Rieder & Hofmann forthcoming; Pasquale 2015). The algorithmically calculated relevance practised by platforms gives user generated content more visibility but simultaneously flattens the differences to professional news (Bowers & Zittrain 2020; Klinger & Svensson 2015).

The rise of platforms as new intermediaries implies a shift in "opinion power", traditionally understood as the media's capacity to influence public will formation (Helberger 2020: 4). Mass media do no longer control their channels of communication and are "becoming dependent upon increasingly powerful digital intermediaries" (Kleis Nielsen & Ganter 2018: 1602). In order to reach particularly their younger audience, mass media have to publish on relevant platforms and thus bow down to their terms of service. However, using digital platforms' communication channels may affect their professional reporting standards and weaken their "editorial identity" (Kleis Nielsen & Ganter 2018: 1602). Platforms introduce new ways of exercising opinion power, as Helberger (2020) argues. Platform-based opinion power, constitutes, "above all, the knowledge (data) and the tools to command and organize online attention, and the ability to use that data and algorithmic tools for persuasion (Helberger 2020: 5). In light of the rising influence that platforms exert on the public discourse, they should therefore be regarded as "political actors in their own right" (Helberger 2020: 2).

3.3.3 Democracy: platforms as active agents

Given that public discourse constitutes a crucial source of democratic will formation, the structural transformation of the public sphere affects democracy in various ways. First, platforms are becoming powerful agenda setters. Journalistic standards of relevance are now competing with a probabilistic calculation of popularity (Ananny 2020) in determining the visibility of political actors and news. The new diversity of curating news brings about a growing diversity of political content (Bennett & Pfetsch 2018). Populist arguments and vocabularies that used to be marginal in the public discourse of most European countries have gained visibility to an extent, which were unimaginable just a few years ago. As a result, disinformation and defamation strategies are undergoing a process of normalization, and the traditional limits of what can be said in public are eroding (Krzyżanowski 2020; Benkler et al. 2017).

Second, the relationship between political actors and their audience is changing. Political representatives do no longer solely rely on mass media for communication and have come to use platforms as a means for directly interacting with the public. Reinforced by mass media reporting, platforms are subjecting the interaction between politicians and their constituencies to a logic of content curation, which tends to award the extreme and shocking at the expense of the thoughtful point of view. Content curation by platforms thus fuels polarisation dynamics, while the self-promotion of politicians supports the trend towards personalizing political reporting and analysis (Manow 2020).

Third, the new dependence of political communication on platforms becomes particularly evident with regard to elections. Platforms do not only provide paid advertising space they facilitate new forms of micro-targeting individual voters that circumvent public scrutiny (Tufekci 2014). With the help of platform data, political parties are able to disseminate personalized content to voters that is closed off from public view and thus of critical inspection by third parties. As Kreiss and McGregor (2017: 1) have shown, platform companies also intervene "as active agents" in election campaigns by advising political candidates across the political spectrum on how to effectively address the electorate. While the impact of platformisation of election campaigns on the outcome of elections is uncertain and disputed, there are clear detrimental effects on democratic norms, as Karpf (2020) argues. If lying to the public creates reliable media attention but no negative consequences for breaking the rules, the trust in democratic institutions may suffer: "Disinformation and propaganda are not dangerous because they effectively trick or misinform otherwise-attentive voters; they are dangerous because they disabuse political elites of some crucial assumptions about the consequences of violating the public trust" (Karpf 2019).

3.3.4 Regulation: treating platforms as facilitators of speech

In light of their growing infrastructural power, the business models of platforms are becoming subject to governmental regulation. With regard to the public realm, regulatory strategies particularly target content moderation. Due to the sheer amount of content being published, governments are enrolling platforms "as proxies of the state to enforce laws and sometimes governing conduct in ways that have law-like effect" (Fourcade & Gordon 2020: 94). However, regulatory strategies aiming to restrict platform power and make it more accountable tend to produce paradoxical, power-enhancing outcomes. By requiring platforms to enforce media laws, as Helberger (2020: 7) points out, current legislative approaches "quite literally establish platform governance, by making platforms the primary governors of online communication. The major regulatory initiatives that are on the table in Europe treat social media platforms as facilitators of the speech of others".

A better understanding of the infrastructural aspects of platform power is key to effectively address harm resulting from the behaviour of platforms to society and democracy. More awareness about the impact of these effects is needed to ensure that future regulatory initiatives reach their objective of controlling the ways platforms exercise power over broader considerations of public policy.

4 Conclusion

The sources and types of power show the complexity of characterizing the wide-ranging control platforms hold over different aspects of our lifes, our economy and our society. While platform power has been conceptualized in detail in scholarship as well as numerous reports and studies, we have attempted to emphasize elements that so far remain underadressed in these discussions.

As regards sources of power, it is important to look beyond 'mere' economic characteristics, such as network effects and economies of scale and scope, and also create a better understanding of how the ability of platforms to influence consumer behaviour impacts the power relationships on and between platforms. Moreover, the infrastructural aspects of platform power may require further research.

With respect to types of power, most of the current discussions seems to focus on how to complement competition law by protecting business users and promoting the fairness of platform-to-business relationships. Although this is indeed a key area of concern, the power held by platforms over individual consumers and citizens as well as over our society and democracy also deserves further scrutiny. In particular, more awareness is needed about the societal and infrastructural elements of platform power that are now reaching a crucial stage where a balance needs to be found in how far and under what conditions platforms should influence these aspects. As the impact of the platform economy on vital public interests like innovation, healthcare and democracy keeps expanding, these are decisive moments for establishing the priorities of EU policy and regulation.

Sources

- Acemoglu, D., Makhdoumi, A., Malekian, A. & Ozdaglar, A. (2019). Too Much Data: Prices and Inefficiencies in Data Markets. NBER Working Papers 26296. https://ideas.repec.org/p/nbr/nberwo/26296.html
- Ananny, M. (2020). Presence of Absence: Exploring the democratic significance of silence [Preprint]. Open Science Framework. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/5ajyw
- Belleflamme, P., & Peitz, M. (2019). Managing competition on a two-sided platform. Journal of Economics & Management Strategy, 28(1), 5-22.
- Benkler, Y., Faris, R., Roberts, H., & Zuckerman, E. (2017). Breitbart led right wing media ecosystem altered broader media agenda. Columbia Journalism Review. https://www.cjr.org/analysis/breitbart-media-trump-harvard-study.php
- Bennett, W. L., & Pfetsch, B. (2018). Rethinking Political Communication in a Time of Disrupted Public Spheres. Journal of Communication, 68(2), 243–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqx017
- Bergemann, D., Bonatti, A. & Gan, T. (2019). The Economics of Social Data. Cowles Foundation Discussion Paper No. 2203R. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3459796
- Bezos. (1997). 1997 Letter to shareholders. https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1018724/000119312513151836/d511111 dex991.htm
- BKK (2020). Warum wird Google Maps bzw. Apple Maps benutzt?, https://www.bbk.bund.de/SharedDocs/FAQs/BBK/DE/NINA2.0 FAQ/FAQ34.html
- Bostoen, F. & Mandrescu, D. (2020). Assessing Abuse of Dominance in the Platform Economy:

 A Case Study of App Stores, European Competition Journal 2020 (forthcoming).

 https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3629118
- Bowers, J., & Zittrain, J. (2020). Answering Impossible Questions: Content Governance in an Age of Disinformation. Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review. https://doi.org/10.37016/mr-2020-005
- Brave (2020). Response to Consultation Regarding Online Platforms and Digital Advertising, 12 February 2020, https://brave.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/12-February-2020-Brave-response-to-CMA.pdf
- Bucher, T. (2012). Want to be on the top? Algorithmic power and the threat of invisibility on Facebook. New Media & Society, 14(7), 1164–1180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812440159

- Bundeskartellamt (2019). Case B6-22/16 Facebook, 6 February 2019, https://www.bundeskartellamt.de/SharedDocs/Entscheidung/EN/Fallberichte/Missbrauchsaufsicht/2019/B6-22-16.html?nn=3600108
- Busch, C. (2020a) Self-regulation and regulatory intermediation in the platform economy, in:
 M. Cantero Gamito & H.-W. Micklitz (eds.), The Role of the EU in Transnational Legal
 Ordering: Standards, Contracts and Codes, 2020, 115–134,
 https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3309293
- Busch C. (2020b), Small and medium-sized enterprises in the platform economy, WISO-Diskurs 1/2020.
- Busch, C. (2021). Regulierung digitaler Plattformen als Infrastrukturen der Daseinsvorsorge, WISO-Diskurs 2021 (forthcoming)
- Castells, M. (2009). Communication power. Oxford University Press.
- Choi, J.P., Jeon, D.-S. & Kim, B.-C. (2019). Privacy and personal data collection with information externalities. Journal of Public Economics, 113–124
- Condorelli, D. & Padilla, J. (2020). Harnessing Platform Envelopment in the Digital World, Journal of Competition Law & Economics, 143–187
- Crémer, J., De Montjoye, Y.-A. & Schweitzer, H. (2019). Competition policy for the digital era
- Dolata, U. (2018). Privatisierung, Kuratierung, Kommodifizierung: Kommerzielle Plattformen im Internet (Working Paper Nr. 2018–04; SOI Discussion Paper). Universität Stuttgart. https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/179973/1/1025515358.pdf
- European Commission. (2009). Communication from the Commission Guidance on the Commission's enforcement priorities in applying Article 82 of the EC Treaty to abusive exclusionary conduct by dominant undertakings, O.J. 2009, C 45/02
- European Commission. (2017). Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping), 27 June 2017
- European Commission. (2020a). Press release European Commission, Antitrust: Commission sends Statement of Objections to Amazon for the use of non-public independent seller data and opens second investigation into its e-commerce business practices, 10 November

 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_2077
- European Commission. (2020b). Press release European Commission, Antitrust: Commission opens investigations into Apple's App Store rules, 16 June 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 20 1073
- European Commission. (2020c). Press release European Commission, Antitrust: Commission opens investigation into Apple practices regarding Apple Pay, 16 June 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP 20 1075

- European Parliament (2020). National COVID-19 contact tracing apps, PE 652.711 (May 2020)
- FAZ (Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung) (2008).

 https://www.netzoekonom.de/2008/10/08/mark-zuckerberg-our-focus-is-growth-not-revenue/ (Mark Zuckerberg interview with Holger Schmidt).
- Fourcade, M., & Gordon, J. (2020). Learning Like a State: Statecraft in the Digital Age. Journal of Law and Political Economy, 1(1), 78–108
- Furman, J., Coyle D., Fletcher A., Marsden P. & McAuley, D. (2019). Unlocking digital competition: Report of the digital competition expert panel. UK government publication, HM Treasury.
- Gawer, A. (2020). Digital platforms' boundaries: The interplay of firm scope, platform sides, and digital interfaces. Long Range Planning, 102045. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2020.102045
- Gawer, A. & Srnicek, N. (2020). The effects of online platforms on the economy and society. Report for the Panel for the Future or Science and Technology (STOA) and managed by the Scientific Foresight Unit within the Directorate-general for Parliamentary Research Services (DG EPRS) of the European Parliament.
- Geradin, D. & Katsifis D. (2020). The antitrust case against the Apple AppStore. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3583029
- German Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy. Government Draft Bill of 9 September 2020.

 English Version: https://www.d-kart.de/blog/2020/02/21/draft-billthe-translation
 For the original bill in German: https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/Gesetz/gesetzentwurf-gwbdigitalisierungsgesetz.pdf
- Gillespie, T. (2018). Custodians of the internet: Platforms, content moderation, and the hidden decisions that shape social media. Yale University Press.
- Google (2019). Grab a seat and be on time with new transit updates on Google Maps, 27 June 2019, https://www.blog.google/products/maps/grab-seat-and-be-time-new-transit-updates-google-maps/
- Google (2020). Navigate safely with new COVID data in Google Maps, 23 September 2020, https://blog.google/products/maps/navigate-safely-new-covid-data-google-maps/
- Graef, I., & Van Berlo, S. (2020). Towards Smarter Regulation in the Areas of Competition, Data Protection and Consumer Law: Why Greater Power Should Come with Greater Responsibility, European Journal of Risk Regulation (forthcoming), https://doi.org/10.1017/err.2020.92
- Guggenberger, N. (2020). Essential Platforms, Stanford Technology Law Review 2020 (forthcoming), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3703361

- Helberger, N. (2020). The Political Power of Platforms: How Current Attempts to Regulate Misinformation Amplify Opinion Power. Digital Journalism, 8(6), 842–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2020.1773888
- Hoffmann-La Roche. (1979). Case 85/76 Hoffmann-La Roche, ECLI:EU:C:1979:36
- Hofmann, J. (2020). Digitale Kommunikationsinfrastrukturen. In T. Klenk, F. Nullmeier, & G. Wewer (Hrsg.), Handbuch Digitalisierung in Staat und Verwaltung (S. 1–11). Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-23669-4 13-1
- Jacobides, M. G., Cennamo, C., & Gawer, A. (2018). Towards a theory of ecosystems. Strategic Management Journal, 39(8), 2255-2276.
- Jacobides, M. G., Cennamo, C., & Gawer, A. (2020). Distinguishing between Platforms and Ecosystems: Complementarities, Value Creation, and Coordination Mechanisms. Working Paper. Available upon request.
- Karpf, D. (2019, Dezember 10). On Digital Disinformation and Democratic Myths. MediaWell, Social Science Research Council. https://mediawell.ssrc.org/expert-reflections/on-digital-disinformation-and-democratic-myths/
- Khan, L. (2017). Amazon's Antitrust Paradox. Yale Law Journal, Vol. 126, 712-805.
- Kleis Nielsen, R., & Ganter, S. A. (2018). Dealing with digital intermediaries: A case study of the relations between publishers and platforms. New Media & Society, 20(4), 1600–1617. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817701318
- Klinger, U., & Svensson, J. (2015). The emergence of network media logic in political communication: A theoretical approach. New Media & Society, 17(8), 1241–1257. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814522952
- Klonick, K. (2018). The New Governors: The People, Rules, and Processes Governing Online Speech. Harvard Law Review, 131(1598), 1598–1670.
- Kreiss, D., & Mcgregor, S. C. (2018). Technology Firms Shape Political Communication: The Work of Microsoft, Facebook, Twitter, and Google With Campaigns During the 2016 U.S. Presidential Cycle. Political Communication, 35(2), 155–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2017.1364814
- Krzyżanowski, M. (2020). Normalization and the discursive construction of "new" norms and "new" normality: Discourse in the paradoxes of populism and neoliberalism. Social Semiotics, 30(4), 431–448. https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330.2020.1766193
- Lancieri, F. & Sakowski, P. M. (2020), Competition in Digital Markets: A Review of Expert Reports, Stanford Journal of Law, Business and Finance (forthcoming).

- Langley, P., & Leyshon, A. (2017). Platform capitalism: The intermediation and capitalization of digital economic circulation. Finance and Society, 3(1), 11–31. https://doi.org/10.2218/finsoc.v3i1.1936
- Langlois, G., & Elmer, G. (2019). Impersonal subjectivation from platforms to infrastructures.

 Media, Culture & Society, 41(2), 236–251.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443718818374
- Luguri J. & Strahilevitz, L. (2019). Shining a Light on Dark Patterns, University of Chicago Coase-Sandor Institute for Law & Economics Research Paper No. 879, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3431205
- Lynskey, O. (2017). Regulating Platform Power, LSE Law, Society and Economy Working Papers 1/2017.
- Lynskey, O. (2019). Grappling with 'Data Power': Normative Nudges from Data Protection and Privacy, Theoretical Inquiries in Law, 189–220Marsden, P. & Podszun, R. (2020). Restoring Balance to Digital Competition Sensible Rules, Effective Enforcement. https://www.kas.de/en/single-title/-/content/restoring-balance-to-digital-competition-sensible-rules-effective-enforcement
- Manow, P. (2020). (Ent-)Demokratisierung der Demokratie: Ein Essay (Erste Auflage). Suhrkamp.
- McQuire, S. (2019). One map to rule them all? Google Maps as digital technical object, 4(2) Communication and the Public 150-165.
- Michelin. (1983). Case 322/81 Michelin v Commission, ECLI:EU:C:1983:313
- Netherlands Authority for Consumers and Markets. (2020). Guidelines on the Protection of the Online Consumer: Boundaries of Online Persuasion, 11 February 2020, https://www.acm.nl/sites/default/files/documents/2020-02/acm-guidelines-on-the-protection-of-the-online-consumer.pdf
- Pasquale, F. (2015). The black box society: The secret algorithms that control money and information. Harvard University Press.
- Plantin, J.-C., Lagoze, C., Edwards, P. N., & Sandvig, C. (2018). Infrastructure studies meet platform studies in the age of Google and Facebook. New Media & Society, 20(1), 293–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444816661553
- Plantin, J.-C. & Punathambekar, A. (2019). Digital media infrastructures: pipes, platforms, and politics, 41(2) Media, Culture & Society 163-174.
- Peitz, M. (2020). Economic policy for digital attention intermediaries. ZEW-Centre for European Economic Research Discussion Paper, (20-035).
- Post Danmark I. (2012). Case C-209/10 Post Danmark I, ECLI:EU:C:2012:172

- Post Danmark II. (2015). Case C 23/14 Post Danmark II, ECLI:EU:C:2015:651
- P2B Regulation. (2019). Regulation (EU) 2019/1150 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 June 2019 on promoting fairness and transparency for business users of online intermediation services [2019] OJ L 186/57
- Rahman, K. S. & Thelen, K. (2019). The Rise of the Platform Business Model and the Transformation of Twenty-First-Century Capitalism. Politics & Society, 47(2), 177–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032329219838932
- Ramge, T. & Mayer-Schönberger, V. (2020). Machtmaschinen, Warum Datenmonopole unsere Zukunft gefährden und wie wir sie brechen.
- Reuters (2020). Germany flips to Apple-Google approach on smartphone contact tracing, 26 April 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-europe-tech/germany-flips-on-smartphone-contact-tracing-backs-apple-and-google-idUSKCN22807J
- Rieder, B. & Hofmann, J. (forthcoming). Beyond Transparency: Toward Platform Observability. Internet Policy Review.
- Schweitzer, H. (2019). Digitale Plattformen als private Regelgeber: Ein Perspektivwechsel für die europäische "Plattform-Regulierung", Zeitschrift für Europäisches Privatrecht 27(1) 1-12.
- Scott Morton, F., Bouvier, P., Ezrachi, A., Jullien, B., Katz, R., Kimmelman, G., Melamed A.D. & Morgenstern, J. (2019). Committee for the study of digital platforms: Market structure and antitrust subcommittee report. Chicago: Stigler Center for the Study of the Economy and the State, University of Chicago Booth School of Business.
- Shapiro, C. & Varian, H.R. (1998). Information Rules, Harvard Business Press.
- Stucke, M.E. (2018) Should We Be Concerned About Data-opolies?, 2 Geo. L. Tech. Rev. 275 (2018).
- Tufekci, Z. (2014). Engineering the public: Big data, surveillance and computational politics. First Monday, 19(7). http://firstmonday.org/ojs/index.php/fm/article/view/4901
- UK CMA (2020). Online platforms and digital advertising Market study final report, 1 July 2020, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5efc57ed3a6f4023d242ed56/Final_report_1_July_2020_.pdf
- U.S. House of Representatives (2020). Judiciary Subcommittee on Antitrust, Commercial and Administrative Law, Investigation of Competition in Digital Markets, Majority Staff Report and Recommendations, https://judiciary.house.gov/uploadedfiles/competition in digital markets.pdf

- van Dijck, J. (2012). Facebook as a Tool for Producing Sociality and Connectivity. Television & New Media, 13(2), 160–176. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476411415291
- van Dijck, J., Poell, T. & Waal, M. de (2018) The platform society. New York: Oxford University Press.
- van Dijck, J., Nieborg, D., & Poell, T. (2019). Reframing platform power. Internet Policy Review, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.14763/2019.2.1414
- Voelcker, S. & Baker D. (2020). Why There Is No Antitrust Case against Apple's App Store: A Response to Geradin & Katsifis, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3660896
- Wagner, G. & Eidenmüller, H. (2019). Down by Algorithms? Siphoning Rents, Exploiting Biases, and Shaping Preferences: Regulating the Dark Side of Personalized Transactions, 86. The University of Chicago Law Review 581-609.
- Yoffie, D. B., Gawer, A., & Cusumano, M. A. (2019). A study of more than 250 platforms a reveal why most fail. Harvard Business Review.
- Zuboff, S. (2018). The age of surveillance capitalism: the fight for a human future at the new frontier of power. First edition. New York: PublicAffairs.